
 

Montgomery Blair Sibley 
189 Chemung Street 
Corning, N.Y. 14830 

607-301-0967/montybsibley@gmail.com 
 

 
January 25, 2021 

 
The Honorable Lindsey Graham 
The Honorable John Cornyn 
The Honorable Mike Lee 
The Honorable Chuck Grassley 
The Honorable Marsha Blackburn 
The Honorable John Neely Kennedy 
The Honorable Mike Crapo 
The Honorable Thom Tillis 
The Honorable Josh Hawley 
The Honorable Ben Sasse 
The Honorable Ted Cruz 
The Honorable Joni Ernst 
 
Senate Judiciary Committee 
United States Senate 
Washington, D.C. 20510 
 

Re: Attorney General Nominee Merrick Brian Garland 
 
Greetings: 
 

I believe Judge Merrick Brian Garland, President Biden’s nominee for 
Attorney General, is unsuited for the Office of Attorney General.  My belief arises 
from a matter I had before Judge Garland which highlights his unsuitability for 
the Office of Attorney General ‒ an office in which unbridled discretion to 
investigate and prosecute resides.  Simply stated, Judge Garland is not a proper 
recipient for such discretion based upon his prior professional behavior.   

 
To support my claim, I will first detail the matter of U.S. v. Elizabeth Duke. 

Next, my Judicial Conduct Complaint against Magistrate Judge Robinson arising 
from her handling of the matter of U.S. v. Elizabeth Duke is explained.  Third, 
Judge Garland’s response above his signature to that Judicial Conduct Complaint 
and its chilling implications are documented. 
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The time-line and location of the U.S. v. Elizabeth Anna Duke events are as 

follows: 
 

November 7, 1983 – A bomb was detonated inside the United States 
Capitol.  1

 
May 24, 1985 – Elizabeth Anna Duke (“Duke”) was arrested and arraigned 

in Philadelphia upon an Indictment charging her with involvement in the 
November 7, 1983, bombing of the Capitol. When arrested, she had a key to a 
storage locker in Pennsylvania containing TNT and false identity documents. A 
copy of  the N.Y Times article on Duke’s arrest is attached as Exhibit “A”. 
Duke was connected with William Ayers and Bernardine Dohrn, two of the most 
notorious — and unrepentant — figures from the violent fringe of the 1970s 
anti-war movement and the organizers of “Progressives for Obama.”  In 1995, 
Ayers and Dohrn hosted a gathering in their home for Obama and raised funds 
for and promoted his candidacy. 
 

July 24, 1985 – Duke was released on bail by U.S. District Court Judge Louis 
Heilprin Pollak. After failing to appear back in Court as ordered, on October 15, 
1985, the government moved to revoke Duke’s bail and a bench warrant for her 
arrest as a fugitive was issued the same day. A copy of  the F.B.I.’s “Wanted by 
the FBI” poster for Duke is attached as Exhibit “B”. 
 

May 11, 1988 – Duke – along with her co-conspirators Laura Whitehorn, 
Linda Evans, Marilyn Buck, Susan Rosenberg, Timothy Blunk, and Alan Berkman 
– was indicted in the District of Columbia for acts of violence against the United 
States, including the aforementioned bombing of the United States Capitol on 
November 7, 1983, and several other government buildings in Washington, D.C. 
The case was assigned Docket No.: 88-cr-145. A copy of  the Press Release from 
the U.S. Attorney’s Office regarding Duke’s Indictment is attached as Exhibit 
“C”.  
 

1 Retrieved from: 
www.senate.gov/artandhistory/history/minute/bomb_explodes_in_capitol.htm 
 

I.  Elizabeth Anna Duke:  The Fugitive, Capitol Bombing, 
Domestic-Terrorist 
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June 2, 1988 – Judge Harold H. Greene issued a bench warrant for Duke 
when she again failed to appear, making Duke a fugitive from justice. 
 

April 25, 2008 – Police arrest Philip Robinson Winkfield (the then 
21-year-old son of U.S. Magistrate Judge Deborah Robinson who sits in the 
District of Columbia) at his apartment in Northeast Baltimore and seize five 
loaded guns, including two semi automatic pistols, two shotguns and a 
semiautomatic assault rifle; a bullet resistant vest; 157 grams of heroin; 180 
grams of crack; more than six pounds of marijuana and $8,000 cash.   
 

May 23, 2008 – Winkfield is indicted in Baltimore City Circuit Court on 
Maryland State Drug offenses. 
 

November 2008 – Barack Hussein Obama is elected President of the United 
States. The U.S. Attorney’s Office in Maryland takes over the Winkfield case from 
Maryland State prosecutors moving it from Maryland State Court to federal court. 
 

December 3, 2008 – Winkfield waives Indictment and pleads guilty to the 
federal offense of being an armed heroin dealer.   
 

April 10, 2009 – Winkfield – eligible for a 40 year sentence – is sentenced to 
five years in federal prison for possession with intent to distribute heroin. 
Assistant U.S. Attorney George Hazel recommends to U.S. District Court Chief 
Judge Motz that Winkfield received the mandatory minimum of 60 months in 
prison. Chief Judge Motz sentenced Winkfield to five years in prison with credit 
for time served and, upon a request made by the defense with the concurrence of 
the government, that Winkfield be sent to Cumberland Federal Correction 
Institute, a notorious “Club Fed” . A copy of the City Paper article regarding 2

Winkfield’s plea is attached as Exhibit “D”. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2  See: What it’s really like inside ‘Club Fed’ prisons 
https://www.washingtonpost.com/news/reliable-source/wp/2015/01/05/what-its-re
ally-like-inside-club-fed-prisons/ 
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June 17, 2009 – Seventy days after Winkfield’s sentencing, Assistant U.S. 

Attorney M. Jeffery Beatrice , from Obama's Department of Justice, appears 3

before Magistrate Judge Robinson for a hearing in the matter of U.S. v. Duke. At 
that hearing, Beatrice makes an oral motion to dismiss the Indictment of and 
quash the outstanding fugitive arrest warrant for Duke.  On the record before 
her, Magistrate Judge Robinson grants this extraordinary oral motion.  A copy of 
that Transcript is attached as Exhibit “E”.  The same day, Magistrate Judge 
Robinson signed the Order dismissing the Indictment as an Article III  “United 
States District Court Judge” ‒ a position the Article I Magistrate Judge Robinson 
does not hold.  A copy of her Order is attached as Exhibit “F”.   Notably,  in that 
Order dismissing the Indictment against Duke, Magistrate Judge Deborah A. 
Robinson stated that the dismissal was: “for the reasons set forth in the 
government’s motion and for good cause shown” – a clear misrepresentation of 
what actually transpired at the hearing as no such “reasons” or “good cause” was 
mentioned as the Transcript clearly reveals. 
 

May 13, 2013 – Some four years later, upon being apprised of this series of 
events by interested parties, I filed a motion to intervene in the U.S. v. Duke 
matter alerting Magistrate Judge Robinson of the improprieties of the June 17, 
2009, hearing and requesting the audio recording of that hearing.  That request is 
denied by Magistrate Judge Robinson and the audio recording has never been 
produced. 
 

June 20, 2013 – After finally obtaining a written transcript of the June 17, 
2009, hearing, I again move to intervene pointing out the now-proven 
misrepresentation-of-the-record by Magistrate Judge Robinson in her June 17, 
2009, order.  Magistrate Judge Robinson denies my motion and seals the motion 
from public view on the Docket in 88-cr-145.   

3  Beatrice served variously as Deputy Chief of the National Security Section, 
Special Counsel for National Security to the U.S. Attorney, Deputy Chief of the 
Organized Crime and Narcotics Trafficking Section, and Senior Litigation Counsel. 

II.  Magistrate Judge Deborah A. Robinson Dismisses the Indictment of 
Elizabeth Anna Duke 
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November 8, 2013 – Upon the foregoing facts, I file a judicial misconduct 

complaint against Magistrate Judge Robinson which is referred to Chief Judge 
Merrick Brian Garland. After relating the above facts in the bare-bone notice 
complaint, I specifically state in my complaint: “I have in my possession copies of 
the pleadings, letters, and orders to confirm the allegations made herein and 
would be pleased to meet with an investigator to provide copies of the same.” 
That offer of providing further evidence is ignored by Chief Judge Garland. 

 
January 15, 2014 – Chief Judge Garland enters his order dismissing my 

Judicial Misconduct complaint for the reasons set forth in his accompanying 
Memorandum. In that Memorandum, Chief Judge Garland summarily concluded 
without explanation that: “Because the allegations lack[] sufficient evidence to 
raise an inference that misconduct has occurred on the part of the 
magistrate” the complaint against Magistrate Judge Robinson “must be 
dismissed.” A copy of Chief Judge Garland’s Order and Memorandum are 
attached as Exhibit “G”. 
 

March 16, 2016 – President Barack Obama nominates Chief Judge Garland 
for Associate Justice of the Supreme Court of the United States to succeed Antonin 
Scalia, who had died one month earlier. The 11 members of the Senate Judiciary 
Committee's Republican majority refused to conduct the hearings necessary to 
advance the vote to the Senate at large, and Garland's nomination expired on 
January 3, 2017, with the end of the 114th Congress. 
 

 
In his Memorandum Order accompanying his dismissal of the Judicial 

Conduct complaint against Magistrate Judge Robinson, Chief Judge Garland 
acknowledged the allegations that: “[T]he magistrate judge (i) falsified the record, 
(ii) exceeded [the judge's] jurisdiction and (iii) impersonated an Article III judge 
in dismissing the Indictment.” 

 

III.  Chief Judge Merrick Brian Garland Buries The Misfeasance Of 
Magistrate Judge Deborah A. Robinson 

IV.  Chief Judge Merrick Brian Garland Should Not Become Attorney 
General 
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Of course, falsifying a federal record is a felony.   By entering her Order 4

stating that “good cause was shown” when no such cause was shown, Magistrate 
Judge Robinson falsified the record. 

 
Moreover, by dismissing an indictment, the Article I Magistrate Judge 

Robinson exceeded her Congressionally-granted jurisdiction.   5

 
Last, as detailed above, Magistrate Judge Robinson is an Article I judge, not 

an Article III judge.  Hence, by signing the order of June 17, 2009, as the latter and 
not the former, she violated 18 U.S. Code § 912  - “Officer or employee of the 6

United States”, a felony. 
 
Yet against these irrefutable facts, Chief Judge Garland concludes that there 

was a lack of: “sufficient evidence to raise an inference that misconduct has 
occurred on the part of [Magistrate Judge Robinson]”.  Such a finding by Chief 

4  18 USC § 1519 - “Destruction, alteration, or falsification of records in 
Federal investigations and bankruptcy” states in pertinent part: “Whoever 
knowingly alters, destroys, mutilates, conceals, covers up, falsifies, or makes a 
false entry in any record, document, or tangible object with the intent to impede, 
obstruct, or influence the investigation or proper administration of any matter 
within the jurisdiction of any department or agency of the United States or any 
case filed under title 11, or in relation to or contemplation of any such matter or 
case, shall be fined under this title, imprisoned not more than 20 years, or both.”  
 
5  Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure, Rule 59(b)(1), “Matters Before a 
Magistrate Judge” specifically prohibits a Magistrate Judge from dismissing an 
indictment as Magistrate Judge Robinson did in her June 17, 2009, Order.  That 
Rule states in pertinent part: “Referral to Magistrate Judge. A district judge may 
refer to a magistrate judge for recommendation . . . any matter that may dispose 
of a charge or defense. . . . The magistrate judge must enter on the record a 
recommendation for disposing of the matter, including any proposed findings of 
fact.” Plainly, a Magistrate Judge may only recommend a dismissal, not actually 
dismiss an indictment. 
 
6  “Whoever falsely assumes or pretends to be an officer or employee acting 
under the authority of the United States or any department, agency or officer 
thereof, and acts as such, or in such pretended character demands or obtains any 
money, paper, document, or thing of value, shall be fined under this title or 
imprisoned not more than three years, or both.” 
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Judge Garland not only was intellectually dishonest, it was also a breach of his 
legal duty to present the evidence of Magistrate Judge Robinson’s felonious 
behavior to a Grand Jury.  7

 
In Communist Party v. Subversive Activities Control Board, 351 U.S. 115, 

124-125 (1956), the Supreme Court stated: “The untainted administration of 
justice is certainly one of the most cherished aspects of our institutions. Its 
observance is one of our proudest boasts. . . . Therefore, fastidious regard for 
the honor of the administration of justice requires the Court to make certain 
that the doing of justice be made so manifest that only irrational or perverse 
claims of its disregard can be asserted.” 

Here, Chief Judge Garland by refusing to address the substantial and                     
decidedly not irrational or perverse claims I raised to him, has demonstrated that                         
his commitment is not to the “honor of the administration of justice” but to other                             
base priorities that supersede his sacred duty articulated in Communist Party v.                       
Subversive Activities Control Board. As such, he is not a suitable person to                         
occupy the Office of Attorney General. 
 

I am available to address any questions, comments or concerns, and 
provide this letter in PDF format if requested. 
 
Yours, 
 
 

7  18 U.S.C. §3332(a) which states in pertinent part: “It shall be the duty of 
each such grand jury impaneled within any judicial district to inquire into 
offenses against the criminal laws of the United States alleged to have been 
committed within that district. Such alleged offenses may be brought to the 
attention of the grand jury by the court or by any attorney appearing on behalf 
of the United States for the presentation of evidence.”  (Emphasis added). 
LIkewise, Federal Rules Criminal Procedure, Rule 6(a) which states: “When the 
public interest so requires, the court must order that one or more grand juries 
be summoned.” (Emphasis added). 
 
 
 


























